IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

PROVIDENCE CORP. DEVELOPMENT DBA: MILLER HEIMAN, INC.; GALLAGHER BASSETT SERVICES, INC.; and CNA CLAIMSPLUS,

Appellants,

v.

KAYCEAN BUMA, as the surviving spouse, and DELANEY BUMA, as the surviving child of JASON BUMA (Deceased), Case No.: 84111

Electronically Filed Aug 25 2022 03:27 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Respondent.

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

On December 23, 2021, the district court filed its decision and order granting petition for judicial review, and the notice of entry of order was filed on December 24, 2021. Appellants were aggrieved by the final order and filed the instant appeal on January 12, 2022, with this honorable court per NRS 233B.150. See also NRAP Rule 3 and 4. Accordingly, this court has jurisdiction.

V.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Under NRAP 17(b)(9), this case would be presumptively assigned to the court of appeals as it concerns a petition for judicial review of an administrative agency's final decision.

VI.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the appeals officer's decision and order was proper, supported by substantial evidence, and founded on a proper application of the law per NRS 233B.135.

2. Whether the appeals officer properly concluded that decedent's ATV outing was a distinct personal departure on a personal errand depriving him of coverage under the Nevada Industrial Insurance Act (NIIA).

VII.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a workers' compensation case involving claimant Jason Buma's death as the result of an ATV accident occurring on March 29, 2015, while Mr. Buma was on a business trip for his employer. Mr. Buma's surviving widow and daughter ("Respondents") requested death benefits on May 11, 2015. (APP I at 104-120.) The employer's third-party administrator denied Respondents' request for death benefits on June 25, 2015. (APP I at 124-125.)

Following a hearing on the matter, a hearing officer issued a decision and order on October 23, 2015, affirming denial of benefits. (APP I at 150-152.) Respondents appealed that decision to an appeals officer.

The matter came before appeals officer Lorna Ward on April 13, 2016. (APP I at 167.) On February 7, 2017, the appeals officer issued a decision and order affirming denial of benefits. (APP I at 227-241) Respondents petitioned the district court for review, which was denied on July 24, 2017. (APP II at 396-401.) Respondents appealed to this court.

On December 12, 2019, this court issued its opinion in <u>Buma v. Providence</u> <u>Corp. Dev.</u>, 135 Nev. Adv. Rep. 60, 453 P.3d 904 (2019). The court remanded the issue to the appeals officer for additional analysis of the traveling employee rule and its exception for distinct personal errands. (APP II at 357-371.) Upon remand to the appeals officer, the parties agreed no further evidence was necessary and they presented written briefs to the appeals officer. (APP II at 378-379, 402-428.)

On December 2, 2020, the appeals officer issued the subject decision and order. The appeals officer affirmed denial of benefits as Respondents failed to establish a compensable claim. (APP II at 429-435.) Respondents filed a petition for judicial review.

On December 23, 2021, the district court rendered an order granting petition for judicial review, finding the appeals officer applied the wrong legal standard and that based on the evidence Respondents had established a compensable industrial insurance claim entitling them to survivor benefits. (APP III at 518-530.)

Appellants filed an appeal of the district court's order to this court on January 12, 2022. (APP III at 531-536.)

VIII.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Claimant Jason Buma died on March 29, 2015, as the result of an ATV accident. On that date, Mr. Buma had travelled to Houston, Texas for a business conference scheduled to begin the next day as part of his employment. (APP I at 130.) On this trip, Mr. Buma stayed with Michael O'Callaghan, a local friend and independent affiliate of Mr. Buma's employer, who lived on a ranch approximately

two hours from Houston. (Id. at 129, 184.) Mr. Buma made his own travel arrangements and chose to stay with Mr. O'Callaghan. (APP I at 179.) Mr. Buma and Mr. O'Callaghan were scheduled to give a presentation at the conference the next morning. (Id. at 181.) The two had worked together for about three years. (Id. at 129.) Mr. Buma had stayed with Mr. O'Callaghan on at least two prior occasions and had driven the ATV on visits prior to this occasion. (Id. 130.)

Mr. Buma arrived at Mr. O'Callaghan's ranch at approximately 3:30 p.m. (Id.) The two had a glass of wine and visited on Mr. O'Callaghan's porch. (Id.) They then decided to ride ATVs before going to dinner. (Id.) Mr. O'Callaghan verified that Mr. Buma was riding the ATV at Mr. Buma's request for recreational purposes, with no related work purpose. (Id.) At approximately 5:00 p.m., Mr. O'Callaghan came upon Mr. Buma lying in a pool of blood on the road next to his ATV. (Id.) Mr. Buma died shortly thereafter on the scene. (Id.)

Mr. Buma's surviving widow and daughter ("Respondents") requested death benefits on May 11, 2015. (APP I at 104-120.) The employer's third-party administrator denied Respondents' request for death benefits on June 25, 2015. (APP I at 124-125.) The letter enclosed a copy of Claimant's Death Certificate, Claimant and Mrs. Buma's Marriage Certificate, and a Texas Peace Officer's Crash Report, as well as emergency service reports. (APP I at 104-120.) On June 8, 2015, in response to questions from the adjuster, the employer noted that: (1) there were no company events on March 29, 2015, at the location where the accident occurred; (2) Mr. Buma was not required to ride the ATV for work purposes; and (3) Mr. Buma was not required to meet with clients until March 30, 2015, at 8:30 a.m. (APP I at 121-123.)

On June 25, 2015, the employer's third-party administrator issued a determination denying industrial insurance benefits. (APP I at 124-125.)

An investigative report was completed on July 6, 2015, regarding the accident. (APP I at 127-148.) On June 30, 2015, the investigator obtained a recorded statement of Michael O'Callaghan, the owner of the property where the accident occurred, which the investigator summarized in the report. (APP I at 129.) Mr. O'Callaghan stated he was self-employed with Axiom International, Inc., and had been an independent representative for Miller Heiman for 15 years. (Id.) Mr. O'Callaghan further stated he was assigned by Miller Heiman to a territory managed by Claimant and that he and Claimant had worked together for about 3 years. (Id.)

On August 13, 2015, Respondents timely filed an appeal of the administrator's June 25, 2015, determination denying benefits. (APP I at 149.)

The matter ultimately came before appeals officer Lorna Ward on April 13, 2016. (APP I at 167.) Mrs. Buma testified at the hearing.

On February 7, 2017, the appeals officer issued a decision and order affirming denial of benefits as Respondents had not established a compensable claim. (APP I at 227-241) Ms. Buma petitioned the district court for review, which was denied on July 24, 2017. (APP II at 396-401.) Ms. Buma appealed to this court.

On December 12, 2019, this court issued its opinion in <u>Buma v. Providence</u> <u>Corp. Dev.</u>, 135 Nev. Adv. Rep. 60, 453 P.3d 904(2019). The court remanded the issue to the appeals officer for additional analysis of the traveling employee rule and its exception for distinct personal errands. (APP II at 357-371.)

On February 20, 2020, the appeals officer filed an order stating that the parties agreed no further proceedings or additional evidence was necessary. The appeals officer accordingly set a briefing schedule for the parties to present their arguments. (APP II at 378-379.) Both parties submitted briefs. (APP II at 402-428.)

On December 2, 2020, the appeals officer issued the subject decision and order. The appeals officer affirmed claim denial, concluding that Mr. Buma's ATV accident did not occur within the course and scope of employment because it was a distinct departure on a personal errand. (APP II at 441-446.) Respondents timely filed a petition for judicial review contesting the decision.

On December 24, 2021, the court rendered an order granting petition for judicial review, finding the appeals officer applied the wrong legal standard and that based on the evidence Respondents had established a compensable industrial insurance claim. Appellants timely appealed the order to this court.

IX.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The appeals officer concluded that Respondents did not meet their burden of establishing a compensable industrial insurance claim from which to derive death benefits. The appeals officer found that Mr. Buma's accident occurred while he was traveling for work, and, therefore, fell under the traveling employee rule codified at NRS 616B.612(3).

The appeals officer then considered whether the subject ATV accident was a personal errand amounting to a distinct departure from his employment. To that end, the appeals officer focused on whether the ATV excursion was reasonable and foreseeable. She concluded that although Mr. Buma was tending reasonably to the needs of personal comfort by riding an ATV on his business trip, the activity was not one that Mr. Buma's employer could have anticipated or foreseen. Therefore, she concluded the accident was due to a personal risk to Mr. Buma and was not compensable. Accordingly, the claim was properly denied under Nevada law.

Respondents argued that the appeals officer's reliance on whether the activity is foreseeable is an error of law. Appellants disagree. The appeals officer properly analyzed the facts based on Nevada law as outlined in this court's decision in <u>Buma</u>. There was no legal error or other basis under NRS 233B.135 to disturb the appeals officer's decision.

X.

ARGUMENT

A.

Standard of review

The standard of review for judicial review of administrative agency decisions is codified at NRS 233B.135. When reviewing a district court's decision on a petition for judicial review of an administrative agency decision, the court uses the same analysis as the district court. <u>Elizondo v. Hood Mach., Inc.</u>, 129 Nev. 780, 784, 312 P.3d 479, 482 (2013). The court defers to an agency's findings of fact as long as they are supported by substantial evidence. <u>Law Offices of Barry Levinson v.</u> Milko, 124 Nev. 355, 362, 184 P.3d 378, 383-84 (2008).

Substantial evidence exists if a reasonable person could find the evidence before the agency adequate to support the agency's conclusion. <u>Id</u>. at 362, at 384. Factual findings are clearly erroneous when there is no evidence or testimony in the record for their support. <u>Hermann v. Varco-Pruden Buildings</u>, 106 Nev. 564, 56667, 796 P.2d 590, 592 (1990). Agency rulings also lack substantial evidentiary support whenever they are based on implicit findings not found in the record. <u>State Indus. Ins. Sys. v. Christensen</u>, 106 Nev. 85, 87, 787 P.2d 408, 409 (1990). An agency ruling without substantial evidentiary support is arbitrary and capricious and, therefore, unsustainable. <u>Id</u>. at 88, 787 P.2d at 410. Although administrative proceedings need not strictly follow the rules of evidence, the fact-finder is charged with making a decision based on evidence of a type and amount that will ensure a fair and impartial hearing. <u>Nassiri v. Chiropractic Physician's Br. of Nev.</u>, 130 Nev. 245, 249, 327 P.3d 487, 490 (2014).

A reviewing court may set aside an agency decision if the decision was based upon an incorrect conclusion of law or otherwise affected by an error of law. <u>State Indus. Ins. Sys. v. Giles</u>, 110 Nev. 216, 871 P.2d 920 (1994); <u>Jessop v. State Indus</u>. <u>Ins. Sys.</u>, 107 Nev. 888, 822 P.2d 116 (1991); see, also, NRS 233B.135(3)(d). Further, appellate review on questions of law is de novo, and the reviewing court is free to address purely legal questions without deference to the agency's decision. <u>Giles</u>, supra; <u>American Int'l Vacations v. MacBride</u>, 99 Nev. 324, 326, 661 P.2d 1301, 1302 (1983). NRS 616A.010 is clear that Nevada no longer has liberal construction under the NIIA. Issues must be decided on their merits, and not according to the common law principle requiring that statutes governing workers' compensation be liberally construed. That means workers' compensation statutes must not be interpreted or construed broadly or liberally in favor of any party.

B.

<u>The appeals officer properly concluded the subject accident was not</u> <u>compensable under the NIIA because it was a distinct departure from</u> <u>employment on a personal errand</u>

When this case came before the court the first time, the court remanded the matter for the appeals officer to reconsider compensability of the claim "guided by the traveling employee rule and its exception for distinct personal errands" as set forth in the opinion. <u>Buma</u>, 453 P.3d at 911. It is undisputed that Mr. Buma was a traveling employee covered under NRS 616B.612(3). However, the parties diverge on whether riding an ATV is a distinct departure from employment on personal errand based on the facts.

Nevada adopted the majority rule that traveling employees are continuously in the course and scope of employment during their travel except during distinct departures on personal errands. <u>Id</u>. at 906. Respondents argue that because Mr. Buma was engaged in a reasonable activity, his accident occurred within the course and scope of his employment. However, this court made it clear that simply proving injury while performing a reasonable activity is alone insufficient to prove a compensable claim. <u>Id</u>. at 908-909. "A general reasonableness standard without a finding of a connection to the employee's work," however, "would go too far in covering the social and recreational activities of traveling employees." <u>Id</u>. (quoting <u>Ball-Foster Glass Container Co. v. Giovanelli</u>, 163 Wn.2d 133, 177 P.3d 692, 698 (Wash. 2008). This court has consistently held that an employee must "establish more than merely being at work and suffering an injury in order to recover" workers' compensation under the NIIA. <u>Mitchell v. Clark Cty. Sch. Dist.</u>, 121 Nev. 179, 182, 111 P.3d 1104, 1106 (2005) (quoting <u>Rio Suite Hotel & Casino v. Gorsky</u>, 113 Nev. 600, 605, 939 P.2d 1043, 1046 (1997)). The court extended this reasoning to the rule for traveling employees under NRS 616B.612(3). Buma, 453 P.3d at 908-909.

In order to determine whether a traveling employee has left the course of employment by distinctly departing on a personal errand, the nature of the activity must be considered in the context of the trip. <u>Id</u>. at 909. Traveling employees may attend to their reasonable recreational needs during downtime without leaving the course and scope of employment. <u>Id</u>. at 910. Recreational activities that are unreasonable in view of the totality of the circumstances may constitute a distinct departure on personal errand. <u>Id</u>.

Further, the category of risk must be considered. While at work, employees may encounter three types of risk: employment, personal or neutral. <u>Rio All Suite</u> <u>Hotel & Casino v. Phillips</u>, 126 Nev. 346, 351, 240 P.3d 2, 5 (2010). For traveling employees, employment-related risks extend to include risks necessitated by travel, such as reasonably attending to personal comforts during the trip. <u>Buma</u>, 453 P.3d at 910.

Upon remand, the appeals officer found that although riding an ATV was a reasonable activity for personal comfort, it was not a foreseeable activity by the employer based on the facts. The appeals officer looked to the <u>Bagcraft</u> case cited by the court in <u>Buma</u> for consideration of whether riding an ATV was a reasonable and foreseeable activity. <u>Buma</u>, 453 P.3d at 908; <u>Bagcraft Corp. v. Indus. Comm'n</u>, 302 Ill. App. 3d 334, 338, 705 N.E.2d 919, 921, 235 Ill. Dec. 736 (Ill. App. Ct. 1998).

In <u>Bagcraft</u>, Mr. Bolda died from an ATV accident occurring while he was on a business trip. <u>Id</u>., at 336-337, 705 at 920-921. Under Illinois law, whether a traveling employee's activity arose out of and in the course and scope of employment depended on whether the activity was reasonable and foreseeable. <u>Id</u>., at 338, 705 at 921. Based on the facts of the case, the <u>Bagcraft</u> court held that Mr. Bolda's ATV excursion was reasonable and foreseeable and therefore compensable. In reaching that decision the court determined that riding an ATV was not an unreasonable activity per se. The court further concluded that the activity was foreseeable to Mr. Bolda's employer because the employer was aware that employees had ridden ATVs on prior trips and because the company hosting the event distributed information regarding activities available at the lodge (including ATV riding). <u>Id</u>. at 341, 235 at 740.

In the instant case, the appeals officer concluded that riding an ATV was a reasonable activity for personal comfort because no evidence was presented showing otherwise. (APP II at 445.) The appeals officer, however, went on to distinguish the facts of this case with those in <u>Bagcraft</u>. (Id.) In reaching her decision, the appeals officer specifically found that no evidence was presented that the employer should have known or anticipated that Mr. Buma would ride an ATV at Mr. O'Callaghan's ranch. (Id.) Further, the appeals officer noted that Mr. Buma made his own travel arrangements and there was no evidence the employer was even aware that he was staying at the ranch. (Id.) These facts supported that Mr. Buma was on a distinct departure for personal errand at the time of the accident. Accordingly, the accident was a personal risk because it was not a risk necessitated by travel based on the evidence on the record.

The appeals officer did not commit legal error by applying foreseeability to her compensability analysis. The question asked of the appeals officer was whether the ATV outing was a distinct personal departure on a personal errand. In answering that question, the trier of fact (the appeals officer) is tasked with weighing the totality of the circumstances. "The focus is on the nature of the activity and the activity's purpose, considered in the context of the work and the trip, rather than the travel status of the employee." <u>Buma</u>, 453 P.3d at 909. There is no set rubric for what amounts to a totality of the circumstances, which makes sense given the wide span of activities that people can engage in and the almost infinite circumstances under which they can undertake those activities. When giving traveling employees such a justifiably wide berth for personal comfort, the analysis simply does not lend itself to bright line rules and requirements that must or must not be ticked off for a claim to be deemed compensable.

The facts of this case are truly unfortunate. However, the appeals officer properly concluded that Appellants are not liable for Mr. Buma's ATV accident because his actions did not arise out of or within the course and scope of his employment. It is conceded that traveling employees are indeed afforded an expanded entitlement to workers' compensation benefits by virtue of the fact that they are required to be away from home and the comforts of home while they are traveling for their employment. However, that entitlement is not unending and must indeed be analyzed under the totality of the circumstances. The appeals officer decision was based on her application of Nevada law to the facts of the case. The factual determinations used to support her conclusion are not within the purview of the court to reweigh per NRS 233B.135(3). The question in this case is whether there was any error of law. The record shows that the appeals officer followed the direction of this court and concluded that Mr. Buma's ATV riding was a personal errand and a distinct departure from his employment. There was nothing arbitrary or capricious about the decision. Accordingly, there was no legal error and the appeals officer's decision should not be disturbed.

///

///

///

XI.

CONCLUSION

The appeals officer properly applied Nevada law regarding traveling employees and exceptions for personal errands to the facts before her. Respondents failed to meet their burden to establish a compensable claim under the NIIA and are therefore not entitled to survivor benefits.

WHEREFORE, Appellants respectfully request that this court affirm the appeals officer's December 2, 2020, decision affirming the administrator's June 25, 2015, claim denial determination.