IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2

1

3

5

6

7

VS.

8

9

10 11

12

13

14 15

16

17

18

19 20

21

23

22

2425

26

2728

PROVIDENCE CORP. DEVELOPMENT, D/B/A MILLER HEIMAN, INC., and GALLAGHER BASSETT SERVICES, INC, and CAN CLAIMSPLUS,

Appellants,

KAYCEAN BUMA, AS SURVIVING SPOUSE, AND DELANEY BUMA, AS SURVIVING CHILD OF JASON BUMA, (Deceased),

Respondents.

Supreme Court No. 84111

Electronically Filed Oct 24 2022 09:14 AM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

JOHN P. LAVERY
Nevada State Bar No. 4665
Lewis, Brisbois, Bisgaard, & Smith, LLP
2300 W. Sahara Ave., Ste. 300, Box 28
Las Vegas, NV 89102
(702) 893-3383

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The singular issue before this Court is whether the appeals officer erred as a matter of law by adding an element of foreseeability to the legal test established by this Court in *Buma v. Providence Corp. Dev.*, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 60, 453 P.3d 904 (2019).

On petition for judicial review from the appeals officer's decision, the District Court properly found that Jason Buma was in the course and scope of his employment when injured on a brief ATV ride on the property where he was staying with a co-worker, solely for work-related purposes. Additionally, the District Court concurred with the appeals officer and, properly found that the activity was not a material deviation in time or space from carrying out the trip's employment-related objectives, nor a personal errand amounting to a distinct departure from his employer's business.

The District Court properly reversed the appeals officer's decision denying Buma's claim for benefits, finding that the appeals officer committed reversible error by misapplying the law. Specifically, the court found that the appeals officer improperly added an element of *foreseeability* to the test of whether the activity in question was reasonable, as Nevada law does not require a foreseeability test in this context. The District Court further properly found that as a matter of law, any activity in this context that is reasonable is also inherently and necessarily

foreseeable.

In coming to its conclusion, the District Court considered that the ranch where the injury occurred was not a recreational facility. It was the home of a colleague who was involved in the same type of business, was involved with the presentations Buma was in Houston to deliver and was going to be a co-presenter the following day. In short, the two were at the ranch solely for business purposes. Further, this was not the first time Mr. Buma had visited the ranch before a business presentation with Mr. O'Callaghan. The two planned to travel together to the location of their presentations the following morning.

The District Court recognized that the appeals officer found nothing inherently wrong with riding an ATV, and that the ATV ride in question was reasonable. Based upon the record and the Nevada Supreme Court's prior decision in this case, *Buma v. Providence Corp. Dev.*, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 60, 453 P.3d 904 (2019), the District Court concluded that the proper legal analysis should have ended when the appeals officer found that the activity of riding an ATV under these circumstances was reasonable. The District Court therefore reversed the appeals officer's decision.

Appellants' argument that the appeals officer based its decision upon Nevada law is unsupported by the record and contrary to relevant and controlling legal authorities, including this Court's previous decision in *Buma*. Appellants' claims

on appeal are without merit and must be denied.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

In *Buma v. Providence Corp. Dev.*, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 60, 453 P.3d 904, 909 (2019), the Nevada Supreme Court recognized that, "traveling employees may generally tend to their *reasonable* recreational needs during downtime without leaving the course of employment under this standard." (Emphasis added). In its decision and order vacating the prior decision and remanding to the appeals officer with instructions, the Court also framed the totality of the circumstances of the case, answering all the necessary questions except one, which it distilled and set forth for the appeals officer to answer: "whether Jason's ATV outing with his business associate/co-presenter while on a business trip amounted to a 'distinct personal departure on a personal errand." AA II at 369.

The Court instructed the appeals officer that, "The cases of distinct departures on personal errands tend to involve a personally motivated activity that takes the traveling employee on a material deviation in time or space from carrying out the trip's employment-related objectives." AA II at 365.

The appeals officer found that Jason Buma did not embark on any such material deviation in time or space from his trip's employment-related objectives.

AA II at 432. Further, the appeals officer found that Buma's activity of riding an ATV on the ranch where he was staying while engaged as a traveling employee

was *reasonable*. Inexplicably, the appeals officer then added a foreseeability test, beyond the finding of reasonableness, requiring that the employer knew or should have known of the specific activity of ATV riding for the injury to be compensable. AA II at 433. This was a reversible error of law.

In the "Statement of the Issues for Review" section of their opening brief, Appellants warn that they intend to again argue facts that have already been decided by the trier of fact. Appellants ignore and misstate the plain language of the appeals officer's decision when they argue that Mr. Buma was on a distinct departure or personal errand at the time of the accident. Appellants' Opening Brief at pp. vii, 12. The bottom line is, if Mr. Buma was tending to his "reasonable recreational needs during downtime" while riding the ATV, then, as a traveling employee, there was necessarily a work connection to the activity. The appeals officer's decision that the activity was reasonable in light of her other findings of fact, is the end of the analysis. There is no requirement that the employer know of the specific activity of ATV riding in order for the injury to be compensable.

In the *Buma* decision, this Court repeatedly referred only to the test of *reasonableness*. Most jurisdictions only apply the reasonableness test. Foreseeability is not an applicable legal consideration in this context. The appeals officer's insertion of the element of foreseeability as part of the legal test was reversible error as decided by the District Court.

A. The Totality of the Circumstances of Buma's Work Trip, as Framed by the Nevada Supreme Court in its Previous Decision in This Case.

In Buma, the Court addressed the totality of the circumstances of Mr. Buma's business trip and made numerous specific findings regarding the same. Those findings are provided again here for the Court's convenience:

- (1) This case concerns a traveling employee, Jason Buma. AA II at 358.
- (2) Jason died in an all-terrain-vehicle (ATV) accident while on a required business trip for his employer, respondent Miller Heiman. AA II at 358.
- (3) Respondent Miller Heiman employed Jason Buma full-time as a vice president of sales. AA II at 359.
- (4) Jason split his time working from home in Reno, Nevada, and traveling out-of-state on business. AA II at 359.
- (5) Jason had no local clients or contacts, and he did not work out of Miller Heiman's Reno office. AA II at 359.
- (6) Jason enjoyed considerable discretion in carrying out his duties. AA II at 359.
- (7) Jason worked irregular hours, starting his day as early as 6 a.m. and sometimes working as late as 10 p.m. AA II at 359.
- (8) Jason was constantly on call, taking business calls at any hour on weekends, on vacations, and even "while hiking." AA II at 359.
- (9) Jason made his own travel arrangements. AA II at 359.
- (10) Miller Heiman required Jason to travel on business, including annual trips to Houston, Texas, to attend an oil and gas conference. AA II at 359.

- (11) On these trips to Houston, Jason stayed with a co-worker, an independent affiliate of Miller Heiman, Michael O'Callaghan, who owned a ranch about a two-hour drive from Houston. Each year Jason and Michael attended the conference, Jason would stay at Michael's ranch, where he and Michael would prepare their joint presentations on Miller Heiman's behalf for the conference. The two would travel to and from Houston to attend the conference, meet with clients, and give presentations on Miller Heiman's services. AA II at 359.
- (12) On his most recent trip, Jason flew from Reno to Houston on a Sunday and drove from the airport to Michael's ranch in the late afternoon. He and Michael had several joint presentations at the oil and gas conference to prepare for, with the first presentation scheduled for Monday morning at 8:30 a.m. AA II at 359.
- (13) Sometime after 5 p.m. on Sunday, Jason and Michael took a short break and went on an ATV ride around the property, as they had on Jason's prior trips. While riding towards the end of a trail that led off the property, Jason rolled his ATV. He died at the scene. AA II at 359.
- B. Foreseeability is Not a Required Element and Was Improperly Required by the Appeals Officer.

The Nevada Supreme Court recognized the reasonableness test – and only the reasonableness test – numerous times in its opinion:

There is no choice but for traveling employees to face hazards away from home in order to tend to their personal needs, "including sleeping, eating, and seeking fresh air and exercise," *and reasonably entertaining themselves*, on their work trips.

Buma, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 60 at 452, 453 P.3d at 908, citing Ball-Foster, 177 P.3d at 701; see also 2 Larson's, supra, § 25.02, at 25-4 n.12(emphasis added).

The Buma Court clearly set forth the test to "determine whether a traveling

employee left the course of employment by distinctly departing on a personal errand." The Court did <u>not</u> include a foreseeability element but states that "the inquiry focuses on whether the employee was (a) tending *reasonably* to the needs of personal comfort, or encountering hazards necessarily incidental to the travel or work; or, alternatively, (b) 'pursuing . . . strictly personal amusement ventures. *Buma*, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 60 at 453, P.3d at 909, citing *Ball-Foster*, 177 P.3d at 697 (emphasis added).

Following its articulation of the appropriate test, the Court clarified that: "traveling employees may generally tend to their *reasonable* recreational needs during downtime without leaving the course of employment under this standard." *Buma, 135* Nev. Adv. Op. 60 at 453 P.3d at 909.

Several times the Court returned to this singular test of reasonableness, including its caveat that "recreational activity that is *unreasonable* in light of the total circumstances of the trip may constitute a distinct departure on a personal errand. *Buma at* 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 60 at 454, 453 P.3d at 910. (emphasis added).

"We hold that this category-based approach applies to traveling employees, though we clarify that risks necessitated by travel—such as those associated with eating in an airport, sleeping in a hotel, *and reasonably tending to personal comforts*—are deemed employment risks for traveling employees." *Buma*,135 Nev. Adv. Op. 60 at 455, 453 P.3d 910. (emphasis added).

At the conclusion of its opinion, the Nevada Supreme Court remanded for the appeals officer to craft a new decision "guided by the traveling employee rule and its exception for distinct personal errands as set out in this opinion." *Buma*, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 60 at 456, 453 P.3d at 911..

Not once did the Nevada Supreme Court use the words "reasonable and *foreseeable*" in discussing the test to be employed. Moreover, foreseeability in this context is not mentioned nor defined in Nevada's workers compensation statutes.

Accordingly, the sole test in this case is one of reasonableness. The appeals officer erred in inserting foreseeability as a required element, making the decision unsound as a matter of law. The District Court properly reversed the appeals officers' decision.

C. The Vast Majority of Jurisdictions Use Only the *Reasonableness* Test.

In Buma v. Providence Corp. Dev., 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 60, 453 P.3d 904 (2019), this Court adopted the majority rule regarding the traveling employee doctrine. The Court found that NRS 616B.612(3) was a codification of the majority rule. The Court recognized that, "in the majority of jurisdictions,' and under Larson's rule, traveling employees are 'within the course of their employment continuously during the trip, except when a distinct departure on a personal errand is shown." *Buma*, 135 Nev.at 451, 453 P.3d at 908.

The one and only reference to foreseeability in the Nevada Supreme Court opinion in *Buma* is a parenthetical explanation of an Illinois decision, *Bagcraft Corp. v. Indus. Comm'n*, 302 Ill.App.3d 334, 235 Ill. Dec. 736, 705 N.E.2d 919, 921 (1998), in which this Court noted that the Illinois court, "([applied the] rule covering employees under workers' compensation throughout their work trips for all reasonable and foreseeable activities)." A survey of Illinois cases on the matter shows that this two-pronged test is regularly articulated in that state. *See Wright v. Industrial Comm'n*, 62 Ill.2d 65, 338 N.E.2d 379 (1975) and *Insulated Panel Co. v. Industrial Comm'n*, 318 Ill. App. 3d 100, 743 N.E.2d 1038, 252 Ill. Dec. 882 (2001). Illinois consistent articulation that foreseeability is a required element in its test is in the minority.

It is important, however, to examine how the test is regularly employed in that state, compared to how the appeals officer employed it. In *Wright*, the claimant – who was working on location, out-of-state -- was killed in a head-on collision in his car, six miles from his motel, on a Saturday afternoon. The court found it was not unforeseeable that the decedent, as a traveling employee, would be driving six miles from his motel, even for recreational purposes. There was no evidence the decedent's conduct was unreasonable.

In *Insulated Panel*, the claimant injured his leg while out hiking, traversing lava rocks, while in Hawaii on a business trip. The lower forum originally found

2
 3
 4

his activity to be unreasonable. The commission and the reviewing court disagreed, finding the activity was reasonable and foreseeable under the traveling employee doctrine. *Id*, 318 Ill.App.3d at102.

The case of *McCann v. Hatchett*, 19 S.W.3d 218 (Tenn. 2000) provides valuable insight into the majority rule test of reasonableness. In *McCann*, the court relied upon 2 Arthur Larson Les K. Larson, <u>Arthur Larson's Workers' Compensation Laws</u>, § 25.00 (1998), in citing the majority rule that, "[a]n employee whose work entails travel away from the employer's premises is generally considered to be within the course of his or her employment continuously during the trip, except when there is a distinct departure on a personal errand." *Id.*, 19 S.W.3d at 221-222.

The *McCann* court specifically adopted the majority rule in determining the compensability of injury or death of traveling employees. The court specifically held that "a traveling employee is generally considered to be in the course of his or her employment continuously during the duration of the entire trip, except when there is a distinct departure on a personal errand. Thus, under the rule we today adopt, the injury or death of a traveling employee occurring while reasonably engaged in a reasonable recreational or social activity arises out of and in the course of employment." *Id*.

The McCann court specifically declined to adopt the "reasonable and

4 5

7

6

8

10 11

12 13

14 15

16 17

18

19 20

21 22

23

24 25

26 27

28

foreseeable" test, citing the inapplicability of the element of "foreseeability" to workers compensation cases:

We decline to adopt the "reasonable and foreseeable" standard used in some jurisdictions. "Foreseeability" is typically a tort law concept; as we have previously stated, "[c]oncepts of 'proximate cause' or 'foreseeability' as utilized in the law of torts do not necessarily govern or define coverage under the workers' compensation statutes."

McCann, 19 S.W.3d at 222 n.2, quoting Jordan v. United Methodist Urban Ministries, Inc., 740 S.W.2d 411 (Tenn. 1987).

As recognized by McCann and Larson's, the majority of other jurisdictions employ the straight reasonableness test. See e.g., Slaughter v. State Acc. Ins. Fund, 60 Or. App 610, 654 P.2d 1123 (1982). The Claimant was a truck driver, out of town on work. He went to a tavern one evening during a layover and was injured in a fight he did not start. The court held that the injury was compensable because his visit to the tavern was reasonable and not a distinct departure on a personal errand. Id, 60 Or. App. at 616.

The *Slaughter* decision provides additional clarity in analyzing traveling employee cases. It explained that, in looking to whether an activity of a traveling employee is covered, what is referred to in some jurisdictions as the reasonableness test is same test set forth in other jurisdictions as a question of whether the employee made a "distinct departure on a personal errand." *Id*, 60 Or. App. at 615-16.

As set forth elsewhere, in the *Buma* decision, the Court expressly used the language of a "distinct departure on a personal errand" in identifying the dispositive question, as well as repeatedly referring to the question of whether the activity was *reasonable*. The Court never used the term *foreseeable* in articulating the test. According to the *Slaughter* decision, the two tests are essentially interchangeable, but they do not include an element of foreseeability.

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